School Policy Review Subcommittee Meeting Monday, March 11, 2024 5:00 PM – 6:15 PM Remote via Zoom

Subcommittee members present: David Pearlman (Chair), Steven Ehrenberg, Andreas Liu, and Valerie Frias.

Other School Committee members present: Natalia Linos.

Staff present: Liza O'Connell, Interim Deputy Superintendent of Student Services; Claire Galloway-Jones, Director of Educational Equity; Betsy Fitzpatrick.

Mr. Pearlman called the meeting to order at 5:00pm.

1. Review/Approval of the Minutes of the January 22, 2024 Policy Review Subcommittee Meeting

On a motion of Dr. Liu, and seconded by Dr. Ehrenberg, the Policy Review Subcommittee voted unanimously, by roll call, with 4 in favor (Mr. Pearlman, Dr. Ehrenberg, Ms. Frias, and Dr. Liu), 0 opposed, and 0 abstentions, to approve the Minutes of the January 22, 2024 Policy Review Subcommittee meeting.

2. Discussion of Draft Policy on Hate Speech (Possible Vote)

Mr. Pearlman stated that many members of the community have asked the School Committee to adopt a Hate Speech Policy, believing that such a policy would be beneficial for educators and students by providing a clear mechanism to report and address incidents of hate speech. Mr. Pearlman drafted a policy, to which Dr. Ehrenberg provided suggested edits. The subcommittee reviewed the version with Dr. Ehrenberg's edits (Attachment A).

Member comments on the draft policy included:

- The proposed policy is important, because it will provide a mechanism for the district to track and monitor incidents of hate speech. This, in turn, will allow the district to be proactive in addressing and resolving such incidents.
- Incorporating specific examples of hate speech in the policy is necessary, so that it can serve as a guide for those who will have to implement it.
- Considered that some speech may fall into a gray area not overtly hateful, yet objectionable to some. How will that speech be handled?
- Discussed whether some speech is hateful in one context, but not in another context, and how to determine, in those instances, whether it would be an incident to report under the proposed policy.
- Discussed the issue of intentionality in the use of hate speech using speech to incite violence or promote bias against a racial, ethnic, religious, sexual minority, or national original group.
- Referenced the Attorney General Office's Guidance on Schools' Legal Obligations to Prevent and Address Hate and Bias Incidents (Attachment B).
- Considered whether the policy might chill free speech, and the unintended consequences it might have on First Amendment rights.

- Suggested that any proposed policy should not be punitive, but should be created through the lens of restorative justice and education. The goal is not to punish, but to prevent incidents of hate speech.
- Asked whether the impact of such a policy will be felt differentially by students of color.
- Cautioned against overcorrecting, which might create a hostile and intimidating environment for free speech. Discussed the need to be aware of both the intended and possible unintended impacts that such a policy may have.

Ms. Galloway-Jones noted that, currently, the district relies upon two existing district policies to respond to incidents of hate speech: the Policy Against Discrimination, Harassment, Sexual Harassment, and Retaliation (J 6) and the Bullying Prevention Policy (J 7). Students have shared with her information about incidents of hate speech that they, or someone they know, have experienced; however, they report that a fear of retaliation stops them from reporting those incidents through the current reporting mechanisms.

Members decided that before moving this draft policy forward they would like more information, including what cases are covered under the district's existing policies (J 6 and J 7) and a summary data report on the incidents that have been reported through these policies. Ms. Galloway-Jones will gather and share this information. With this information, they can consider how to fill any gaps in the existing policies in order to address extreme cases of hate speech. It was also suggested that the policies be reviewed to align with the Attorney General's guidance document.

3. Discussion of Statutory Change to Student Code of Conduct (Possible Vote)

Ms. O'Connell described the various laws and statutes that govern student discipline. She noted that M.G.L. c. 71, s. 37H ³/₄ was amended (effective 11/08/2022) and requires the addition of due process language in the Student Code of Conduct (Public Schools of Brookline Policy Manual, J 8). The amended language (Attachment C) will bring the PSB Code of Conduct into compliance with applicable laws. The language will be inserted into the following section of the Code of Conduct: Section 37H ³/₄ Offense Procedures for All Suspensions Except In-School Suspensions of 10 Days or Fewer.

On a motion of Mr. Pearlman, and seconded by Dr. Ehrenberg, the Policy Review Subcommittee voted unanimously, by roll call, with 4 in favor (Mr. Pearlman, Dr. Ehrenberg, Ms. Frias, and Dr. Liu) to favorably recommend the revised Code of Conduct Policy to the School Committee for adoption. [The First Reading is scheduled for March 28, 2024, and the Second Reading/Possible Vote is scheduled for April 11, 2024.]

At Dr. Liu's request, the language in the statute referencing "Headmaster" will be changed to "Head of School".

4. Consideration of 2024 Annual Town Meeting Warrant Articles (Possible Vote) The subcommittee considered the 2024 Town Meeting Warrant Articles. On a motion of Mr. Pearlman, and seconded by Ms. Frias, the Policy Review Subcommittee voted unanimously, by roll call, with 4 in favor (Mr. Pearlman, Dr. Ehrenberg, Ms. Frias, and Dr. Liu), 0 opposed, and 0 abstentions, to move the following Warrant Articles forward for full School Committee consideration:

2024 Special Town Meeting Warrant Article - Public Hearing

<u>Article 1</u>: Submitted by the Select Board on behalf of the School Committee, to authorize and empower the Select Board to petition the General Court for a special act, to authorize the Town of Brookline to use a portion of the subsurface area below an existing playground [Pierce School Playground] for purposes of geothermal wells related to an adjacent school building [Pierce School].

2024 Annual Town Meeting Warrant Articles - Public Hearing

<u>Article 10</u>: Submitted by the Advisory Committee, Fiscal Year 2025 Budget <u>Appropriation No. 38</u>: \$4,670,209 for minor renovations and upgrades to school buildings. <u>Appropriation No. 39</u>: \$200,000 for school building modifications to meet IEP accommodations. <u>Appropriation No. 40</u>: \$250,000 for a long-term capital planning study for school buildings. <u>Appropriation No. 41</u>: \$717,332 for classroom capacity needs.

5. Discussion of Draft Policy on Public Art on the Outside of School Buildings

Mr. Pearlman reported that this draft policy is still being reviewed and revised. It will be presented at a future date.

6. New Business

Dr. Linos asked that the Policy Review Subcommittee continue consideration of revisions to the Assignment of Students to Schools policy, such that students who move to a new address (within Brookline) are allowed to remain at their current school.

The meeting adjourned at 6:15pm.

Hate Speech Policy

The Public Schools of Brookline (PSB) condemn any use of hate speech that vilifies, humiliates, or incites violence. This policy covers both staff and students of the PSB.

1. Definition: Hate speech, whether explicit or implicit, plain or subtle, intentional or unintentional, is a pejorative communication, in speech, gesture, illustration, or writing, that at its root expresses prejudice on the basis of ethnicity, race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, or other like grouping. While often employed to incite violence or an escalated response, intention to provoke is not a prerequisite for a communication to be considered hate speech.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.5", No bullets or

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

a. Examples:

- i. statements that <u>intentionally</u> promote bias and/or <u>incite</u> violence against any racial, ethnic, -religious, sexual minority or national origin group-;
- epithets derogatory epithets associated with hatred that target any such group (e.g., homosexual pejoratives) (e.g. n-word, homosexual pejoratives, terrorist, retard, e:te.)
- iii. <u>symbols</u>, slogans that demonstrate hostility and/or gross insensitivity (e.g. "You will not replace us," "Blood and soil," "From the river to the sea...," etc.)
- iv.iii. drawings, photographs, graffiti, logos, or other imagery <u>made publicly</u> <u>visible and/or disseminated</u> that represent hatred<u>and/or prejudice (e.g., a</u> <u>blood drop cross); and(e.g. swastika, blood drop cross, noose, etc.)</u>
- v.iv. hateful gestures (e.g., a Nazi salute).(e.g. Nazi salute, pulling eyes outward into a slanted position, etc.)
- b. <u>Education ExceptionExceptions:</u> Use of what would ordinarily be treated as hate speech is narrowly permissible in:
 - an instructional or remedial-therapeutic setting for purposes of identifying material as hate speech and/or remedying its negative consequences, and; or
 - <u>teacher-led discussions or assignments in which a statement, epithet,</u> <u>symbol, or gesture is studied within its context (e.g., contextually-</u> appropriate academic settings (e.g. swastikas in Buddhist art, Confederate flags in a Civil War social studies lesson).

Commented [SE1]: This is too broad.

The task of defining hate speech is difficult because it is often subjective, with cases on which reasonable people can disagree (e.g., the use of epithets in a self-deprecating, familiar, or reappropriated manner among people who identify with the group against whom the epithet has been used). The examples above are therefore not intended as an exhaustive list but as clear cases that necessarily would trigger the response below.

ii. , pejorative epithets in classic literature, etc.)

- 2. <u>Response</u>: The superintendent or designee(s) shall develop clear protocols to address reported instances of hate speech involving members of the PSB community, wherever they may occur, and prepare an annual written report to publicly present to School Committee. These protocols shall include both an intuitive, user-friendly reporting mechanism for all members of the PSB community, as well as a system of remediation that may involve administrators, guidance counselors, classroom teachers, and other staff or outside resources. The protocols shall be updated biennially, in concert with those promulgated in accordance with the PSB Anti-Bullying, Anti-Harassment, and Code of Conduct policies where state law requires robust reporting mechanisms, student support systems, and training for administrators and staff.
 - a. <u>Reporting</u>: An annual written report shall be produced cataloguing at a minimum (1) the number of hate speech incidents by category, (2) position of the alleged perpetrator (student or staff, grade level), (3) individual/group targeted, (4) grade level of victim, (5) school, and (6) the broad method of remediation. This report shall be publicly presented to the School Committee at least once by June 20 of each academic year. Individually identifying information about the alleged perpetrator and alleged victim(s) shall be excluded. The purpose of this annual report is to assist the district and School Committee in tracking hate speech incidents to better understand their scope and promulgate more effective procedures to ensure the safety and social-emotional well-being of our school communities.
 - b. <u>Remediation</u>: recognizing that hate speech can range from intentional to unintentional, with varying degrees of scope and severity, district responses shall be tailored to the context of each individual situation and the ages and circumstances of those impacted. While remediation may include a disciplinary response, the goals are always to educate and promote the general welfare. Remediation shall align with the PSB Code of Conduct.
- 3. <u>Effective Dates</u>: The definition of hate speech shall take effect immediately upon passage of this policy by the School Committee. The protocols and annual report provisions shall take effect at the start of the 2024-2025 school year.

Nothing in this policy shall be construed to limit the reporting requirements and protections against hate incidents already guaranteed under applicable state and federal law. The Massachusetts Anti-Bullying Law (G.L. c. 71, § 37O), Student Anti-Discrimination Act (G.L. c. 76 § 5), and Title VI of the federal Civil Rights Act require schools to take affirmative measures to prevent bias-related bullying and harassment by students, and to respond meaningfully when such misconduct occurs. Notably, a school district's obligation to protect a student from a hostile school environment extends beyond addressing hate incidents that occur on school grounds or during school-sponsored activities.¹

¹ Massachusetts Attorney General's Office Guidance on Schools' Legal Obligations to Prevent and Address Hate and Bias Incidents. 2019.



THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL ONE ASHBURTON PLACE BOSTON, MASSACHUSETTS 02108

ANDREA JOY CAMPBELL Attorney General (617) 727-2200 www.mass.gov/ago

<u>Attorney General Office's Guidance on Schools' Legal Obligations to</u> <u>Prevent and Address Hate and Bias Incidents</u>

The Office of the Attorney General has recently engaged with school administrators, teachers, staff, parents, students, and community members who are concerned about hate incidents in the Commonwealth's elementary and secondary schools, and who are reexamining the role of schools in preventing and addressing these incidents. Student misconduct that involves hate, bias, or prejudice can have a devastating impact on victims and severely disrupt the school environment. State law requires schools to take steps to prevent this type of misconduct and respond when it occurs. This Guidance is designed to assist schools in their continuing efforts to combat hate and foster a safe, supportive, and inclusive educational environment, consistent with their legal obligations.

Massachusetts Prohibits Bias-Related Bullying and Harassment in Schools

The Massachusetts Anti-Bullying Law (G.L. c. 71, § 37O) and Student Anti-Discrimination Act (G.L. c. 76, § 5) require schools to take steps to prevent bias-related bullying and harassment by students and respond effectively when it occurs.¹ Bullying and harassment are similar, but not identical, types of misconduct. Bullying generally includes any repeated, targeted behavior that harms a student or disrupts the school environment. Although not all bullying is bias-related, bullying often stems from or involves bias, prejudice, or hate. Harassment is conduct that creates, or contributes to the creation of, an intimidating or hostile environment for a student because of their race, color, religion, national origin, sex, gender identity, or sexual orientation. Like bullying, harassment can take many forms, including verbal statements, online or social media activity, graffiti, and violent or threatening physical conduct. Unlike bullying, harassment does not have to be repeated or targeted at a particular victim. A single, severe hate incident may create an intimidating or hostile environment—so too may a series or pattern of incidents.

Schools should understand that the protections against harassment provided by the Anti- Discrimination Act are closely analogous to those provided by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act

¹ Federal law also imposes requirements on schools to address bias-related misconduct by students. *See, e.g.,* 42 U.S.C. § 2000d *et seq.* ("Title VI") (covering race, color and national origin); 20 U.S.C. § 1681 *et seq.* ("Title IX") (covering sex); 42 U.S.C. § 12131 *et seq.* (Americans with Disabilities Act) (covering disability).

of 1964.² However, Title VI applies only to harassment based on race, color, or national origin, whereas the Anti-Discrimination Act extends the same protections to cover religion, sex, gender identity, and sexual orientation. While schools' responsibilities under Massachusetts law are independent of federal law, school officials may use longstanding federal guidance applying Title VI as a complementary resource that addresses many of their obligations under the Anti-Discrimination Act.³

Schools Must Respond to Hate and Bias Incidents Involving Students

Schools must take prompt and effective action to address hate incidents involving students. When a school receives notice of an alleged hate incident, it has a legal responsibility to investigate and to respond to any bullying or harassment that is found to have occurred. Because hate incidents may involve bullying, harassment, or both bullying and harassment, schools must ensure that their response complies with both the Anti-Bullying Law and the Anti-Discrimination Act. Moreover, even if a school determines that a hate incident does not rise to the level of bullying or harassment, it should still address behavior that violates its code of conduct or other disciplinary rules. Among other issues, a school may violate the Anti-Discrimination Act if it fails to address misconduct and that misconduct continues and eventually creates or contributes to an intimidating or hostile environment.

The legal obligations imposed by the Anti-Bullying Law and the Anti-Discrimination Act are not limited by the physical boundaries of the school campus. Schools are responsible for addressing incidents that occur at school or school-related events, including activity on school buses to and from school or school-related events.⁴ Schools are also responsible for addressing "off-campus" bullying or harassment that has a serious carry-over effect on the victim at school.⁵

² Under the Anti-Discrimination Act and Title VI, students may not be discriminated against, excluded from, or denied the advantages or benefits of school programs because of their protected characteristics. *See* G.L. c. 76, § 5; 42 U.S.C. § 2000d. This broad prohibition requires schools to protect students from peer harassment that unreasonably interferes with their education—that is, harassment that creates an intimidating or hostile school environment. *See* 603 CMR §§ 26.07(2) and 26.08 (schools must take steps to prevent harassment and respond when it occurs); *see also* United States Department of Education, "Dear Colleague Letter: Harassment and Bullying" (discussing legal obligations to address harassment under Title VI and other federal laws); United States Department of Education, "Race and National Origin Discrimination: Frequently Asked Questions."

³ Courts generally look to interpretations of federal statutes when applying similar state statutes, and protections against harassment and hostile environment discrimination are generally as extensive or more extensive under Massachusetts civil rights law as under federal law. *See, e.g., College-Town, v. Mass. Com'n Against Disc.*, 400 Mass. 156, 163-64 (1987); *see also* "Dear Colleague Letter: Harassment and Bullying" (acknowledging that state laws may provide "additional civil rights protections" for students).

⁴ An incident that occurs during remote learning, or on a remote learning platform, should generally be treated as occurring in school or at a school-related event. Further, schools must be aware that incidents that involve social media, texting, or other online activity may qualify as in-school incidents even if some of the activity originates outside of school during non-school hours. Because of its pervasive presence in students' lives, social media activity, in particular, may contribute to in-school bullying or harassment regardless of when or where it originally occurs.

⁵ Specifically, schools must address off-campus bullying and harassment that create or contribute to a hostile environment at school—as well as off-campus bullying that infringes on a victim's rights or causes a substantial disruption at school. *See, e.g.,* G.L. c. 71, § 37O(b).

If a school determines that an incident involves bullying, it must take steps to stop the bullying behavior, protect the victim, and restore their sense of safety at school. Schools must have specific plans in place to deal with bullying that targets a student based on their race, color, religion, national origin, sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, or disability, among other characteristics.⁶ The Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) offers comprehensive guidance concerning schools' responsibilities under the Anti-Bullying Law.

Schools must also evaluate whether a hate incident has created or contributed to an intimidating or hostile school environment.⁷ Some misconduct that does not qualify as bullying—for example, because it is not repeated—may still qualify as harassment that creates or contributes to an intimidating or hostile environment. Further, some misconduct that qualifies as bullying may also trigger responsibilities under the Anti-Discrimination Act. And a school's responsibilities under the Anti-Discrimination Act may differ from its obligations under the Anti-Bullying Law. As such, a school that labels an incident as "bullying," and limits its response accordingly, may fail to identify or properly address violations of students' civil rights.

When a school receives notice of an incident that may involve harassment, it must conduct a prompt and impartial investigation that is sufficiently thorough to determine whether an intimidating or hostile environment exists for any affected student.⁸ A school may receive notice that harassment is occurring in any number of ways. For example, harassing conduct may be reported to an administrator, may be witnessed by a teacher, or may be so open and notorious as to place the school on notice that it is occurring. A student does not need to report that they are being harassed, identify the conduct at issue as "harassment," or request that the school intervene in order to be protected by the Anti-Discrimination Act.⁹ If a school determines that harassment has occurred, it must take appropriate remedial action to end the harassment, prevent it from recurring, and eliminate the intimidating or hostile environment. Depending on the severity of the situation, a school may need to undertake systemic changes, including altering relevant policies and procedures and implementing training and educational programs, to effectively respond to an intimidating or hostile environment.

⁶ See G.L. c 71, § 37O(d)(3).

⁷ Harassment creates an intimidating or hostile school environment when it is sufficiently severe or pervasive to unreasonably interfere with a student's educational performance or ability to participate in, or benefit from, school programs, activities, and services.

⁸ Upon receiving notice of a hate incident, schools should also consider whether the alleged incident is serious enough (e.g., a hate crime) to necessitate outreach to law enforcement. The model <u>Memorandum of Understanding for School Resource Officers</u>, released by the Office of the Attorney General, the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, and the Executive Office of Public Safety and Security, offers guidelines for involvement of and information sharing with law enforcement. The Office reminds schools that, under state law, they must not involve law enforcement in traditional school discipline issues, and they should only make law enforcement referrals where the incident rises to the level of criminal conduct that poses real and substantial harm or threat of harm to the well-being of students or others in the school community or to property of the school.

⁹ A school cannot turn a blind eye to information it learns as part of an investigation: if an investigation into an initial incident uncovers evidence of additional harassing conduct, the school is responsible for investigating and addressing that conduct as well. *See, e.g.*, 603 CMR § 26.07(2) (schools are responsible for addressing harassment "when they have knowledge of its occurrence").

Schools must take a balanced approach to imposing discipline when responding to hate incidents. On the one hand, an inadequate disciplinary response can encourage bias-related misconduct and contribute to the creation of, or exacerbate, an intimidating or hostile environment. On the other hand, schools must ensure that any disciplinary action is both consistent with laws and regulations regarding school discipline and an effective response to the misconduct at issue. In particular, schools should carefully consider alternative measures before suspending or expelling students.¹⁰ In addition to state legal requirements, "[r]esearch has shown that suspending students from school for non-violent offenses, and particularly suspending them repeatedly, has limited effectiveness in improving their behavior."¹¹ Evidence-based approaches, such as Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (or PBIS), may be more effective at deterring bias-related misconduct and remediating an intimidating or hostile environment.

Schools should be confident that they can effectively respond to harassment and biasrelated bullying without infringing on legal protections for student speech. Most incidents of bullying and harassment involve either conduct or types of speech—including threats and fighting words—not protected by the First Amendment or state law. Further, schools may discipline students for protected speech that causes, or is likely to cause, a substantial disruption or interferes with the rights of others, including the right to attend school free from bullying or harassment.¹² Additionally, schools may always respond to hateful speech with their own speech condemning bias and hate; by providing support for the victim and their community; and by conducting outreach, training, and educational programs.

Schools Must Take Affirmative Steps to Prevent Hate and Bias Incidents

Schools cannot wait until after a hate incident has occurred to take action. State law and DESE regulations require schools to take affirmative steps to create a positive school climate where all students feel safe, supported, and respected, and to implement rules, policies, and procedures to combat bullying and harassment. Schools that neglect these obligations risk creating an environment in which hate incidents are more likely to occur and are more difficult to address. To comply with state laws and regulations, schools must fulfill the following affirmative responsibilities:

• Review curriculum to ensure that it promotes tolerance and does not perpetuate discriminatory or demeaning stereotypes;¹³

¹⁰ See G.L. c. 71, § 37H³/₄; 603 CMR § 53.05.

¹¹ Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, "<u>Advisory on Student Discipline under Chapter 222 of the</u> <u>Acts of 2012</u>" (Feb. 28, 2015).

¹² See Tinker v. Des Moines Ind. Com. School Dist., 393 U.S. 503, 509-10 (1969); G.L. c. 71, § 82. Schools may generally sanction students for otherwise protected speech, including political speech, that "crosses the line...[into] bullying and harassment." See Norris v. Cape Elizabeth High School, 969 F.3d 12, 29 & n. 18 (1st Cir. 2020). While school officials are owed significant deference in determining when speech crosses this line, they must make certain that students are not sanctioned because the beliefs or positions they have expressed are unpopular, discomforting, or "merely offensive to the listener." Id.

¹³ See 603 CMR §§ 26.05(1) and (2).

- Provide students at all grade levels the "skills, knowledge, and strategies" necessary to prevent and respond to bullying and harassment;¹⁴
- Develop and implement plans to support and protect students who are vulnerable to becoming victims of bullying or harassment because of their race, color, religion, national origin, sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, or disability, among other identifying characteristics;¹⁵
- Prohibit students from engaging in bullying or harassment and prescribe disciplinary measures that may be imposed for violations;¹⁶
- Implement comprehensive policies and procedures for reporting, investigating, and responding to bullying and harassment;¹⁷ and
- Train administrators, teachers, and staff to successfully implement anti-bullying and anti-harassment policies and procedures, including by providing teachers with sufficient professional development opportunities to ensure that they can carry out the educational requirements above.¹⁸

Schools Should Adopt Best Practices to Help Them Implement Their Legal Obligations

Schools are encouraged to develop educational programs, prevention initiatives, and remediation measures that both incorporate best practices and meet the particular needs of their local community.

Based on the research and input of national and local experts, and consistent with schools' legal obligations, the Office recommends that all schools in the Commonwealth consider the following best practices, among others:

• Engagement with the School Community. Building a climate of inclusivity where every student, no matter their racial, ethnic, or other identity, feels safe and valued requires ongoing learning and work by the entire school community, including administrators, teachers, staff, students, and parents. Adults within the school community hold a special responsibility, given their positions of power and authority. If they fail to comprehensively address hate or bias incidents among students, or if they engage in hateful or biased conduct or speech themselves, they may be signaling that such behavior is acceptable.

¹⁴ See G.L. c. 71, § 37O(d)(3).

¹⁵ See G.L. c. 71, § 37O(d)(3).

¹⁶ See G.L. c. 71, § 37O; 603 CMR § 26.08(1).

¹⁷ See G.L. c. 71, §§ 37O(d)(1)-(3); 603 CMR §§ 26.07(1)-(2), (4) and 26.08(1).

¹⁸ See G.L. c. 71, §§ 37O(d)(4) and (e)(2); 603 CMR 26.07(3).

- Underlying Causes and Difficult Conversations. In order to prevent, identify, and appropriately address hate, bias and prejudice, the school community should engage with related issues, such as the role of unconscious bias, the histories of marginalized groups, and the continuing impact of racism in our society. Schools should ensure that the school community receives the appropriate training and education to understand these issues and incorporate a shared understanding into the school culture. In addition, schools should train teachers and others in how to engage in and moderate difficult conversations. Districts should also consider offering <u>guidelines</u> and skills support on the use of hurtful terms in classrooms studying relevant history and literature. This set of work can often benefit from conversation and engagement with those who have relevant cultural expertise.
- *Transparency*. Hate incidents can have a significant and disruptive impact on the school community and are frequently the subject of broad community interest. Schools should strongly consider issuing a prompt and clear communication to the school community when a hate incident occurs, particularly when dealing with incidents that are serious, public, or likely to be the subject of rumors and gossip. The communication should vigorously condemn hateful or biased conduct, explain the steps that the school is taking to address the incident, and reaffirm the shared values of the school community, such as respect for differences and a commitment to inclusivity, equity, and safety for all students. The communication may also direct readers to resources or provide contact information for students who want to talk or have information to share. Email communications from the Framingham, Wellesley, and Marblehead school districts provide examples. Any such communication must comply with applicable privacy laws and regulations, including the Federal Educational Rights and Privacy Act (or FERPA).
- *Student Leadership*. Schools should foster and support student leadership groups representing marginalized communities (e.g., Black Student Union, Asian American Students Association, Gay-Straight Alliance/Gender Sexuality Alliance). Not only do student leadership groups support students and their allies and help build resilience, they increase acceptance and understanding among the school community and contribute to a positive school climate.
- Notification to Parents of LGBTQ Students. Schools should consider the unique concerns around notifying parents of LGBTQ students about bullying and harassment related to sexual orientation or gender identity/expression. For example, parents may not be aware of their child's sexual orientation or gender identity/expression. For additional information and guidance, consult DESE's <u>Guidance on Notifying Parents When A Student Has Been Bullied Based on Sexual Orientation or Gender Identity/Expression</u>.

The Office of the Attorney General is committed to securing the civil rights of all students in the Commonwealth. If you have questions about this Guidance or other civil rights concerns, you may contact the Office <u>online</u> or at 617-963-2917.

Due Process: M.G.L. c. 71, s. $37H^{3/4}$ Statutory Change

For all conduct other than 37H and 37H¹/₂ violations...

Amended language of Section 37H3/4(b) (effective 11/08/2022):

remedies may include, but shall not be limited to: (i) mediation; (ii) conflict resolution; (iii) restorative acting as a decision-maker shall also implement school- or district-wide models to re-engage students in the learning process which shall include but not be limited to: (i) positive behavioral interventions direct response to a specific incident or incidents, unless specific reasons are documented as to why justice; and (iv) collaborative problem solving. The principal, headmaster, superintendent or person continued presence in school would pose a specific, documentable concern about the infliction of and supports models and (ii) trauma sensitive learning models; provided, however, that school- or alternative remedies have been employed and their use and results documented, following and in such alternative remedies are unsuitable or counter-productive, and in cases where the student's "Any principal, headmaster, superintendent or person acting as a decision-maker at a student serious bodily injury or other serious harm upon another person while in school. Alternative re-engage the student in the learning process; and shall not suspend or expel a student until meeting or hearing, when deciding the consequences for the student, shall consider ways to district-wide models shall not be considered a direct response to a specific incident."



5